1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 3 4 **Electronically Filed** NO. 66697 Apr 30 2015 09:12 a.m. STEVE DELL MCNEILL, 5 Tracie K. Lindeman 6 Appellant, Clerk of Supreme Court 7 VS. 8 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 9 10 Respondent. 11 12 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 13 (Appeal from Judgment of Conviction) 14 15 STEVEN B. WOLFSON PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 16 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor 309 South Third Street, #226 17 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685 (702) 455-4711 18 19 Attorney for Appellant ADAM LAXALT Attorney General 20 100 North Carson Street 21 Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265 22 23 Counsel for Responde

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

NRS 177.015 gives Court jurisdiction to review this appeal from jury verdict. I:169. District court filed final judgment on 09/18/14 and notice of appeal was filed on 10/10/14, within 30 day time limit established by NRAP 4(b). I:190-91;192-94.

1	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
2	I. DUE PROCESS, SEPERATION OF POWERS, AND
3	OTHER CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS PROHIBIT
4	STATE AGENCY FROM SUPPLEMENTING
5	LEGISLATIVELY CREATED ELEMENTS OF CRIME AND
6	PROHIBIT STATE FROM PROSECUTING INDIVIDUAL ON VIOLATIONS NOT LISTED WITHIN STATUTE: NRS
7	213.1243.
8	II. EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT; COURT
9	VIOLATED SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS
10	BY REMOVING ONE ELEMENT FROM JURY'S DECISION-MAKING PROCESS; AND, COURT ERRED IN
11	ADMITTING INCOMPETENT EVIDENCE.
12	III. ERRONEOUS JURY INSTRUCTIONS.
13	
14	IV. COURT ERRED IN DENYING MOTION FOR ARREST
15	OF JUDGMENT AND/OR MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL.
16	71000117113.
17	V. NRS 213.1243 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT
18	VIOLATES PROHIBITION AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.
19	VI. PREJUDICIAL ERROR OCCURRED WHEN
20	WITNESSES TESTIFIED DEFENDANT WAS
21	INCARCERATED PRIOR TO BEING PLACED ON LIFETIME SUPERVISION, COMPARED LIFETIME
22	SUPERVISION TO PAROLE, CALLED HIM A SEX
23	OFFENDER, AND SAID HIS WAS ONE OF THE MOST
24	EGREGIOUS CRIMES.
25	VII. DUE PROCESS VIOLATED BY COURT FAILING TO
26	REQUIRE STATE TO REVEAL CRIMINAL HISTORY OF WITNESSES OR INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS.
27	
28	VIII. COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING STATE'S EXPERT TO TESTIFY.

1.	IX. CUMULATIVE ERROR WARRANTS REVERSAL.
2	X. STRUCTURAL ERROR BASED ON BATSON
3	CHALLENGE TO STATE STRIKING ALL WHITE MALES
4	REQUIRES REVERSAL.
5	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
6 7	On 04/10/14, State filed criminal complaint charging McNeill with:
8	(1) violation of lifetime supervision - NRS 213.1243, and (2) prohibited acts
9	by a sex offender. I:031-2. State originally alleged crimes occurred on
11	12/13/13, but later changed timeframe to occurring from 12/14/12 to
12	03/10/14. I:67;I:89;I:126.
13	On 04/29/14, Justice Court held preliminary hearing and bound case
14	On 04/29/14, Justice Court here premimary nearing and bound case
15	to district court. I:003-85.
16 17	McNeill entered pleas of not guilty at 05/07/14 arraignment hearing. ¹
18	I:239-42;M-I:226.
19	McNeill filed a pre-trial motion for discovery and a writ; but, he later
20	
21	withdrew his writ to ensure his right to speedy trial. ²
22	
23	
24	Information filed on 05/05/14, Amended Information filed on 07/07/14.
25	I:089-91;I:126-27; Second Amended Information at I:148-49.
26	Defendant's Discovery Motion - I:096-93; State's Response - I:102-110; Hearing on 06/30/14 - II:243-58; M-227-28. Defendant's Writ - I:111-
27	17; State's Return to Writ – I:120-25; Hearing on 07/07/14 – II:258a-l. State
28	filed notices of witnesses and expert on 05/17/14 and 06/06/14. I:092-93;94-

Trial lasted three days beginning on 07/07/14 and ending on 07/09/14.³ Upon completion of testimony, court dismissed count 2 in response to McNeill's request for directed verdict on both counts. III:490-01;498. State did not appeal. III:525-26.

Jury rendered guilty verdict on count 1. I:169.

On 07/30/14, district court denied McNeill's Motion for Arrest of Judgment pursuant to NRS 176.525; alternatively, Motion for Judgment of Acquittal pursuant to NRS 175.381. *Order*-I:188-89; *Hearing*-III:585-93.

On 09/10/14, court sentenced McNeill to a 12 to 36 month prison sentence. III:596-608;M-I:238.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Parole and Probation Officer Ashley Mangan began her law enforcement career in corrections - seven years in Nevada prisons - before becoming a parole and probation officer in 2012. II:344-45;359. After training, she was assigned to the Division of Parole and Probation's sex offender unit in March of 2013. II:344-45;351-59.

One of the first cases Mangan received involved McNeill, a convicted sex offender, who had been on lifetime supervision for five years or more. II:344-45;360. Prior to Mangan's supervision, McNeil was monitored by

³ Day 1: 07/07/14 at II:259-328;M-I:231-32; Day 2: 07/08/14 at II:329-98;M-I:235-36; Day 3: 07/09/14 at III:399-584;M-I:235-36.

four different officers. II:360. Mangan did not recall McNeill receiving any violations before she handled his case. II:360.

McNeill testified that NcNeill signed three lifetime supervision agreements before she became his officer: (1) McNeill signed first lifetime supervision agreement on 11/08/07 while incarcerated before release from prison (II:346-51; *Exhibit #2*-III:6110; (2) second one – exact same document – on 12/04/07 while awaiting an order from the Parole Board on special conditions (II:351; – *Exhibit 3*-III:612); and (3) on 11/07/12, McNeill allegedly signed a third lifetime supervision agreement which contained special conditions (II:350;-521; – *Exhibit #4*-III:615-15).

Mangan described lifetime supervision as:

- it's not really parole...if you violate lifetime supervision you would be subject to new felony charges. Where if you violated parole you would just be subject to parole violation. There are specific conditions that the Parole Board mandates that the offender comply by. Things like reporting, residence, reporting to your officer, curfew, submitting to urine analysis and things of that nature. II:345;360.

Mangan supervised people on parole and lifetime supervision the same.

II:360.

Almost immediately upon receiving his case, Mangan and McNeill experienced problems. Mangan claimed she telephoned him but her calls never went through. II:351. Her first contact with McNeill occurred on

03/29/13 when he reported to Division of Parole and Probation and she was out on the road. II:351-52. She returned to meet him.

Mangan reviewed monthly report he filled out – line by line. II:352; See Exhibit #5-III:618. One of her first dictates was a new curfew: 5:00 PM to 5:00 AM. Because he was homeless, she told him he was required to stay near cross-streets of Main and Colorado – area where he slept at night so she could spot check him for curfew requirement. II:352-3. She showed him his lifetime supervision agreement from 11/07/12 and discussed penalties he could receive for disobeying her orders. II:353.

Also, Mangan wanted McNeill to re-enroll in sex offender counseling. She could not remember checking with his counselor, Marcia Lee, to determine if he could attend.⁴ II:366.

Mangan's next contact with McNeill was on 04/12/13. II:353; See Exhibit #6 – III:620-22. She again went over his monthly report, discussed counseling which he was no longer taking, changed his curfew to 8:00 PM, and had him draw map of area where he stayed. Mangan wanted to refer

Marcia Lee, a licensed and family therapist, testified McNeill was terminated from sex offender program on 12/22/12. II:436-38; *Exhibit 11*-III:636. He began treatment in March of 2008. II:435;439. During four years of therapy, McNeill completed his homework and attended sessions but after four years was making little or no progress. II;438;441-3.

him to Catholic Charities for food, bed, and assistance, but, he declined her offer, II:353-34.

During April, Mangan unsuccessfully attempted to find McNeill on streets during his curfew. One night she drove around where he slept and surveilled area at 8:20 PM and 9:40 PM, but she never found him. II:354.

In May, Mangan met McNeill on 05/08/13. II:354. See Exhibit 7 – III:623-26. She noticed his address was changed and asked him to draw another map. III:355.

Mangan did not see McNeill in June of 2013 because another officer handled his case. II:355; *See Exhibit 8* – II:627-29

Mangan spoke to McNeill over phone in July. She said he hung up on her twice and called her "f.... c..." during third phone call. II:355-56. But he appeared at Division on 07/11/13 and completed his monthly report. II:356. See Exhibit #9 – III:630-88.

On 07/11/13, Mangan discussed his noncompliance and arrested him. II:356. District Attorney's Office declined to proceed on her complaint and McNeill was later released. II:363-64.

Mangan next saw McNeill on 08/15/13. II:356. See Exhibit #10 – III:633-35. Mangan took him to meet with her supervisor, Brian Zana. II:356-57;366-69.

Mangan said McNeill refused to submit a urine sample, abide by curfew, and told them he would sleep wherever he wanted; but, he agreed to meet with her monthly. II:357;364. McNeill outlined his complaints with Mangan to Zane and refused to meet with her weekly. II:36768. Zane did not ask him to provide a urine sample but informed him that he needed to abide by conditions for lifetime supervision or warrant would issue for his arrest. II:368. Mangan documented file.

After 08/15/13, Mangan had no physical contact with McNeill.⁵ II:358.

On 08/29/13, Zane received a cease and desist letter from McNeill. II:367-68;II:364365; *Exhibit A*-III:638-42. The letter was dated 08/19/13. III:638-42. Zane forwarded letter to Mangan and Attorney General. II:368.

In December of 2013, Mangan again requested District Attorney initiate criminal charges against McNeill. II:365. After three months of corrections and additional informational requests, District Attorney approved her demand and filed criminal complaint on 03/10/14. II:365.

///

///

On 02/27/14 she drove around looking for McNeill but did not locate him. II:365-66.

28 ||/

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

McNeill argues Legislature limited conditions for lifetime supervision to specific conditions listed in NRS 213.1243. Thus, he could not be held guilty of violating NRS 213.1243 if he disobeyed restrictions placed on him by Board and Division that were not listed in NRS 213.1243. District court's interpretation of NRS 213.1243 - allowing for additional conditions - rendered NRS 213.1243 unconstitutionally vague, overbroad, and violated separation of powers doctrine. III:476-77;484.

McNeill further contends evidence was insufficient to convict him of any violations. But if Court disagrees, Legislature's sentencing guideline when an offender violates one condition amounts to cruel and unusual punishment.

McNeill contests other erroneous rulings by district court or plain errors in his case which include: court's denial of his *Batson* challenge when State used all peremptory challenges to remove white males, State's inaccurate notice of expert, motions for mistrials and directed verdicts, denial of discovery, incorrect jury instructions, post-trial motions, and prejudicial errors involving State's presentation of lifetime supervision cases.

///

ARGUMENT

2

1

3

4

5

7

8

_

10

11

12

13

14

15 16

17

18

19 20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27 28 I. DUE PROCESS, SEPARATION OF POWERS, AND OTHER CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS PROHIBIT STATE AGENCY FROM SUPPLEMENTING LEGISLATIVELY CREATED ELEMENTS OF CRIME AND PROHIBIT STATE FROM PROSECUTING INDIVIDUAL ON VIOLATIONS NOT LISTED WITHIN STATUTE: NRS 213.1243.

A. Lifetime supervision conviction.

McNeill stands convicted of violation of NRS 213.1243, lifetime supervision, under Second Amended Information and Jury Instruction #3 as follows:

2012 and March 10, between December 14, unlawfully, knowingly, and feloniously 2014...willfully, violated the conditions of Lifetime Supervision imposed on Steve McNeill pursuant to having in 2004 been convicted of a Sex Offense that requires Lifetime Supervision in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, to wit: by refusing to submit to a urinalysis, failing to report, failing to have his residence approved, failing to cooperate with his supervising officer, failing to maintain fulltime employment, failing to abide by a curfew, and/or terminated from his sex offender counseling.

I:149:153;169.

Because State pled violations as "and/or," jury only needed to find McNeill guilty of one of seven violations listed to return a guilty verdict. See prosecutor's argument - III:548. Court did not give special verdict.

B. NRS 213.1243 requirements.

NRS 213.1243 lays out statutory conditions a person must follow for lifetime supervision. In summation, conditions are that individual: (1) may only reside at a location approved by the Parole and Probation officer and must keep officer informed of his current address, (2) may not reside within 500 feet (or 1000 feet if the offender is a Tier 3 offender) of any place that is designed primarily for the use of children; (3) must comply with and pay for electronic monitoring, if the division deems it appropriate for the offender; (4) must follow instructions of electronic monitoring, if deemed appropriate and report any damage to device: and (5) have no communication with victim or witness of underlying crime.

NRS 213.1243 distinguishes mandatory conditions from discretionary conditions. Electronic monitoring is discretionary condition. Living at least 500 feet from a place designated primarily for children is mandatory condition.

Legislature did not incorporate statutes outlining requirements for the supervision of parolee into NRS 213.1243. NRS 213.1243 is the only statute containing conditions for lifetime supervision.

A violation of lifetime supervision is a <u>new</u> crime: category B felony.

7

11 12

13

14

15 16

17 18

19 20

21 22

23 24

25

26

27

28

A person found guilty receives a prison term of a minimum of 1 year and maximum of not more than 6 years. Court may also access a fine of not more than \$5,000. NRS 213.1243(8).

C. Lifetime supervision conditions placed on McNeill.

McNeill began lifetime supervision after completing his sentence in C204263. I:085a-b. He signed three lifetime supervision agreements: (1) on 11/08/07 - "under duress" (I:030-32;III:611); (2) on 12/04/07 - same agreement (III:612); and (3) on 11/07/12 - same agreement but with added specific conditions as identified by Board of Parole Commissioners. III:614-16.

Board of Parole defined by standard requirements Commissioners, each person placed on lifetime supervision must abide by the following: (1) submit a monthly report, DNA, and appear in person at Division as required; (2) only reside at a residence approved by officer after obtaining approval; (3) no alcohol - must submit to medically recognized test for blood alcohol; (4) limitations on use of a controlled substance submit to periodic testing; (5) no firearms or illegal weapons; associations with ex-felons or sexual offenders; (7) cooperate with supervising officers; (8) comply with all laws and registration requirements; (9) no out-of-state travel without permission; (10) seek and maintain

2.0

employment or maintain a program approved by officer; (11) pay supervision fees; (12) curfew; (13) participate in counseling if deemed necessary; (14) submit to polygraph if asked; (15) stay away from victim; (16) do not use alias or fictitious name unless approved by officer; (17) no P.O. box without permission; (18) no contact with person under the age of 18 years in secluded environment; (19) stay away from playgrounds, schools, movie theatre, business that caters primarily to children; and (20) submit to a search. III:611-13.

In November of 2012, Board added *special requirements* approved by Parole Board on 05/24/11: (1) no patronizing business with sexually related entertainment if deemed inappropriate by officer; (2) no electronic device accessing internet unless approved; (3) no alcohol; (4) no sexually explicit material unless approved; (5) comply with prescription medication; and (6) do not enter bar or lounge except for employment. III:616.

Standard requirements listed under the lifetime supervision agreements McNeill allegedly signed <u>mirror</u> mandatory conditions for parole of a sex offender listed in NRS 213.1245.

But, McNeill was not on parole and legislature did not incorporate requirements of NRS 213.1245 within NRS 213.1243.

D. Difference between NRS 213.1243 requirements and lifetime supervision agreements.

As noted within Section A, McNeill was charged and convicted of Violation of Lifetime Supervision - NRS 213.1243- occurring between 12/14/12 and 03/10/14: "refusing to submit to a urinalysis, failing to report, failing to have his residence approved, failing to cooperate with his supervision officer, failing to maintain fulltime employment, failing to abide by a curfew, and/or was terminated from his sex offender counseling." I:67;89;126;149;153.

Provisions #1, #2, #4, #7, #10, #12, and #13 of lifetime supervision agreements - as issued by Board of Parole Commissioners to all individuals on lifetime supervision - are ones State alleged McNeill violated in Second Amended Information and Jury Instruction #3.

But when comparing NRS 213.1243 with enumerated requirements in lifetime supervision agreements as developed by Board and Division, only two conditions that appear in NRS 213.1243 are in agreements: #2 – residence and #15 – no contact with victim.

When comparing conditions listed in NRS 213.1243 with alleged violations in State's charging documents, only one requirement listed in charging document is a condition promulgated by Legislature in NRS 213.1243: failure to have his residence approved. *See* NRS 213.1243(3).

E. McNeill's trial and post-verdict objections.

McNeill objected to State using conditions for lifetime supervision not included in NRS 213.1243 as violations and criminal acts three times by: (1) submitting jury instructions premised on wording of NRS 213.1243 and restricting jury findings of a violation to conditions in statute (*See* ISSUE III), (2) requesting directed verdict based on insufficient evidence of a violation based on conditions listed in NRS 213.1243 (*See* ISSUE II); and (3) filing post-trial motions within seven days of verdict. (*See* ISSUE IV).

In bench memorandum filed when submitting defense proposed jury instructions and in post-trial motion, McNeill argued only lifetime supervision conditions listed within NRS 213.1243 could constitute a criminal act under the plain meaning of NRS 213.1243. McNeill contended the written lifetime supervision agreements were not legally binding and contained more conditions than allowed by NRS 213.1243. I:142-47;175-179; I:180-83; *Hearing/argument at* III:465-99; III:585-92.

McNeill argued separation of powers doctrine prohibited Board and Division from creating conditions for lifetime supervision not enumerated within NRS 213.1243 because they would be creating elements of the crime. And, if court disagreed, McNeill said NRS 213.1243 was vague and

overbroad and should be stricken as unconstitutional. I:142-47;175-179; I:180-83; *Hearing/argument at* III:465-99 and III:585-92.

Court upheld Board and Division's decision to add conditions for lifetime supervision not listed in NRS 213.1243. Court found no violation of separation of powers and held statute was not vague or overbroad. III:484-90.

Court reasoned NRS 213.1243(1) allowed Board of Parole Commissioners to "establish by regulation a program of lifetime supervision." III:471. Board then instituted administrative regulations through NAC 213.290. III:471-90. In Nevada Administrative Code - NAC 213.290, Board directed itself to "establish conditions of lifetime supervision" for each person placed on lifetime supervision.

Therefore, district court concluded: "[f]air reading of the statute and the regs together is that there are additional conditions allowed to be established for lifetime supervision by the board, pursuant to the legislature's grant of authority..." II:475.

Court also held that NRS 213.1243(8) allowed for a conviction upon violation of Board imposed requirements because Legislature said: "a sex offender who commits a violation of a condition imposed upon him or her

pursuant to the program of lifetime supervision is guilty of a category B felony." II:477-78.

Court held the same when McNeill filed post-trial motion. III:591.

F. Standard of Review.

Court uses de novo review for issues of statutory construction and constitutional overlay, or for questions involving interpretation of constitutional provisions. *Jackson v. State*, 291 P.3d 1274, 1277 (Nev. 2012) (statutory and constitutional interpretation); *DeStefano v. Berkus*, 121 Nev. 627, 629 (2005)(interpreting statutes); *In re Contested Election of Mallory*, 282 P.3d 73, 741 (Nev. 2012) (interpreting Nevada Constitution).

G. NRS 213.1243: lifetime supervision is different from parole/probation.

NRS 213.1243 requires lifetime supervision program be monitored/supervised by parole and probations officers. NRS 213.1243(1).

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