#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STEVE DELL MCNEILL,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Aug 28 2015 03:48 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 66697

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

**Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County** 

SHARON G. DICKINSON Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #003710 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Do you understand what that means? Do you understand the circumstances of what you are doing?

The Defendant: Yes, I can comprehend that.

The Court: Okay. Can I just get you to indicate for the record then what it is you are agreeing to for purposes of this hearing; what fact or facts are you agreeing to stipulate to.

## The Defendant: I am agreeing I am a sex offender and I am on lifetime supervision.

2 AA 266-67 (emphasis added). For defense counsel to turn around on appeal and fault the State and the court for agreeing to this proposed stipulation in an effort not to prejudice the jury is not in good faith, and is simply playing games. This claim must be denied.

McNeill further contends that as the jury was not instructed as to the stipulation in the jury instructions, this violated his due process rights as they never reached a decision as to these elements. This claim is without merit as it violated the spirit of the stipulation. See supra

Pursuant to the stipulation, the Information was changed to read that "Steve Dell McNeill pursuant to having in 2004 been convicted of a sex offense that requires lifetime supervision. . ." 1 AA 148-49. The charging document that was read and presented to the jury included the stipulation so as not to prejudice McNeill based on the horrendous facts of his underlying case. This document was also included in Jury Instruction No. 3. 1 AA 153-54. Jury instructions No. 4 and 5 defined "sex offender" and explained lifetime supervision. 1 AA 154-55. Additionally in Jury Instruction No. 10, the jury was told that "The evidence which you are to consider in this case consists of the testimony of the witnesses, the exhibits, **and any facts admitted or agreed to by counsel**." 1 AA 160 (emphasis added). Additionally, the district court instructed the jury about the stipulation:

The Court: What is relevant to this trial is that, in fact, those facts have been stipulated to; he is a convicted sex offender and he's on lifetime supervision. The issue is that what he's been charged with, violation of lifetime supervision and prohibited acts, and whether or not you find from the evidence and that the law, as we will instruct you later today, that he is in fact guilty, beyond a reasonable doubt, to those charges. That is the only relevant information.

So I instruct you generally to disregard any information that may lead you to discuss and certainly to direct you to not have and allow it to enter into your deliberations or be part of your deliberations in any way that the underlying matters that brought us to the point where these charges were brought.

3 AA 432-433. Further, Defendant's counsel told the jury during Defendant's closing arguments about the stipulation. 3 AA 549. Defendant's counsel told the jury the following:

Ms. Bonaventure: He wants you to convict Steve based on the fact he's a convicted sex offender, but that conviction all of us already know. The judge has told us it's in the past. Nobody is to consider it because what we are here for today are violations. Because Steve is on lifetime supervision, he's assigned to follow the rules, and you're here to decide whether or not he broke those rules, nothing else.

. .

I don't want you to be confused, whatever you decide, Steve is going to remain on lifetime supervision. That does not change.

. . .

You have to get a good idea of the big picture because Steve was in lifetime supervision starting in 2007.

<u>Id.</u> at 549-550. Therefore, the State did prove that McNeil was a convicted sex offender on lifetime supervision and any argument to the contrary is without merit.

### **B.** Lifetime Supervision Agreements Were Properly Admitted

McNeill contends that the district court erred in allowing the introduction of three lifetime supervision agreements as they lacked foundation, and thus the court may not review this evidence regarding deficiency. However, in assessing a sufficiency of the evidence challenge, "'a reviewing court must consider all of the evidence admitted by the trial court,' regardless whether that evidence was admitted erroneously." McDaniel v. Brown, 558 U.S. 120, 131, 130 S.Ct. 665, 672, 175 L.Ed.2d 582 (2010) (emphasis added) (quoting Lockhart v. Nelson, 488 U.S. at 41, 109 S.Ct. 285 (1988)).4 This is because an appellate court "cannot know what evidence might have been offered if the evidence improperly admitted had been originally excluded by the trial judge." United States v. Sarmiento–Perez, 667 F.2d 1239, 1240 (5th Cir.1982). Stephans v. State, 262 P.3d 727, 734 (Nev. 2011). Additionally the Court stated:

"Our case law concerning sufficiency of the evidence makes occasional reference to "competent" evidence. See. e.g., Hernandez v. State, 118 Nev. 513, 531, 50 P.3d 1100, 1112 (2002) (to determine sufficiency, "this court must determine whether the jury, acting reasonably, could have been convinced by the competent evidence of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt" (emphasis added)); Braunstein v. State, 118 Nev. 68, 79–80, 40 P.3d 413, 421 (2002); see Collman v. State, 116 Nev. 687, 711, 7 P.3d 426, 441 (2000); Garner v. State, 116 Nev. 770, 779, 6 P.3d 1013, 1019 (2000), overruled on other grounds by Sharma v. State, 118 Nev. 648, 56 P.3d 868 (2002). "Competent" in the context of a sufficiency of the evidence analysis does not mean properly admitted; rather, it refers to evidence that was placed before the jury by the court to the exclusion of evidence extraneous to the judicial proceedings. See Crowe v. State, 84 Nev. 358, 366-67, 441 P.2d 90, 95 (1968) ("The test ... for sufficiency upon appellate review is ... whether this court can conclude the trier of facts could, acting reasonably, be convinced to the degree of certitude by the evidence which it had a right to believe and accept as true."). Accordingly, we consider all evidence admitted at trial when reviewing Stephans's claim of insufficient evidence, including the evidence erroneously admitted by the district court.

Id. at n. 4. This Court should not consider McNeill's argument to ignore the lifetime supervision agreements entered.

### C. There Was Sufficient Evidence that McNeill Violated his Lifetime Supervision Conditions

On November 16, 2007, McNeill signed a Lifetime Supervision agreement in which he agreed to: 1) report as directed by his supervising officer; 2) submit to periodic testing for controlled substances as required by his supervising officer; 3) abide by curfew imposed by supervising officer; and 4) participate in professional counseling if deemed necessary. 3 AA 614. McNeill violated all of these conditions.

Mangan was unable to locate McNeil after curfew in April. 2 AA 354. Mangan requested McNeil to provide in more detail where he sleeps so she would be able to locate him. 2 AA 354. In July, Mangan had a meeting with McNeill regarding his noncompliance with curfew, that he was not paying fees, he was not employed and that he was not attending counseling. 2 AA 355-56. In August, McNeill refused to submit to a urinalysis. 2 AA 356. McNeill also refused to come in for the required weekly office visit. 2 AA 357. He told Sergeant Zana that he was only reporting to Mangan as a "courtesy," after which Zana explained that it was required under the law that he do so. 2 AA 367. Looking at the evidence in the light

most favorable to the State, it is clear the jury could have found McNeill guilty of violating his Lifetime Supervision Agreement.

### III. THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN BY THE DISTRICT COURT WERE CORRECT

Appellant alleges that the district court abused its discretion by not offering certain jury instructions. OB at 47. "The district court has broad discretion to settle jury instructions, and this court reviews the district court's decision for an abuse of that discretion or judicial error." <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005). Further, the district court only abuses its discretion with regard to jury instructions when the court's "decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." <u>Id</u>.

#### A. No Plain Error in Jury Instructions

McNeil failed to object at trial to Jury Instruction #6 and has not demonstrated plain error, therefore McNeil's issue is precluded from review. Failure to object during trial generally precludes appellate consideration of an issue. Rippo v. State, 113 Nev. 1239, 1259, 946 P.2d 1017, 1030 (1997). Despite such failure, this Court has the discretion to address an error if it was plain and affected the defendant's substantial rights. Normally, the burden is on defendant to show that an error was prejudicial in order to establish that it affected substantial rights. Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 23 P.3d 227, 239 (2001). The United States Supreme Court has explained that the plain error doctrine is limited and "authorizes the Courts of

Appeals to correct only 'particularly egregious errors...that seriously affect the fairness, integrity or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." <u>United States v. Young</u>, 470 U.S. 1, 15 (1985) (quoting <u>United States v. Frady</u>, 456 U.S. 152, 163 (1982). The Court held that the plain error rule is to be used "sparingly" and only when there has been a fundamental error so basic and prejudicial that justice could not have been done, or when the error deprives the accused of a fundamental right. <u>Young</u>, 470 U.S. at 15.

Here, McNeil alleges that jury instructions were incomplete and an incorrect statement of laws. OB at 49. McNeil did not object to these issues at trial when the court settled jury instructions, therefore there is no patently prejudicial error. Because there is no prejudicial error, this issue cannot be considered on appeal.

#### **B.** Jury Instructions were Correct Statement of Law

McNeil contends by incorporating previous arguments that jury instructions were incorrect statements of law based on district courts failure "to explain why conditions listed within NRS 213.1243 are the only conditions allowed for a violation of NRS 213.1243." OB at 50. Whether an instruction is a correct statement of the law is reviewed de novo. Nay v. State, 123 Nev. 326, 330, 167 P.3d 430, 433 (2007). McNeil's argument is successfully refuted above. See supra I. Therefore,

<sup>1</sup> Many of McNeill's arguments rely on the foundation that the additional lifetime supervision conditions are not constitutional. The State has proved otherwise. See

20

McNeil cannot demonstrate that this instruction was an improper statement of law.

The district court did not abuse their discretion in instructing the jury and therefore,

McNeil's claim must be dismissed.

### C. District Court Did Not Abuse Discretion When Failing to Sua Sponte Correct Mere Presence Instruction

McNeil alleges that the Court abused its discretion when failing to sua sponte correct McNeil's mere presence instruction to a corpus delecti instruction. OB at 50-51. McNeil alleges that the "district court recognized without directly saying, McNeil actually wanted a jury instruction on corpus delecti rule." OB at 51. McNeil fails to demonstrate at what point the district court "recognized" this fact. However, even if the district court's actions can be interpreted as to recognize that McNeil wanted a corpus delecti instruction, the district court suggested such instruction would be denied.

The Court: ... It would be one thing if the instruction was written – and I'm not suggest this because I don't believe the instruction needs to be given, period – but if it were written as the mere fact that certain dialogue was had in, you know, Sergeant Zanna's office doesn't itself mean that the defendant is guilty of the crime charged. But we simply don't give instruction that go alone those lines.

3 AA -451. A corpus delecti instruction would not be on point in this case. Further, the district court cannot instruct on a defense theory that a defendant did not request.

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>supra</u> I. In the interest of brevity, the State will not continue to address the core of many of McNeill's arguments, as it has done so thoroughly in this brief.

Here, if anything, the judge opined and assisted defense counsel. However, there can be no sua sponte absent McNeil's request. Therefore, McNeil again has failed to demonstrate that the district court abused its discretion.

## **D.** Court Provided Sufficient Instruction on Circumstantial Evidence and Reasonable Interpretation

McNeil contends that the jury instructions on circumstantial evidence and reasonable interpretation are incomplete. OB at 53 -54. This Court has held that it is not error to refuse to give an instruction when the substance of that instruction "is substantially covered by another instruction given to the jury." <u>Ford v. State</u>, 99 Nev. 209, 211, 660 P.2d 992, 993 (1983).

#### a. Circumstantial Evidence

In this case, there was no abuse of discretion or judicial error by the district courts instruction regarding circumstantial evidence. Jury received the following instruction on circumstantial evidence in Jury Instruction No. 10:

"... Circumstantial evidence is the proof of a chain of facts and circumstances which tend to show whether the defendant is guilty or not guilty. The law makes no distinction between the weight to be given either direct or circumstantial evidence. Therefore, all of the evidence in the case, including the circumstantial evidence, should be considered by you when arriving at your verdict.

3 AA - 534. McNeil argues that the district court erroneously refused to allow him to present his jury instruction on circumstantial evidence. While it is true that a defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of the case, the case

law does not support the notion that the defendant has an absolute right to have his instruction given. Margetts v. State, 107 Nev. 616, 818 P.2d 392 (1991). Therefore, McNeil did not have an absolute right to has his proposed jury instruction given. Jury Instruction No. 10, provided by the district court appropriately and adequately informed the jury on circumstantial evidence.

### **b.** Two Reasonable Interpretations

McNeil requested that the court instruct the jury that if the evidence is subject to two reasonable interpretations, one suggesting guilt and the other suggesting innocence, the jury has a duty to adopt the interpretation leading to innocence. As early as 1976 in Bails v. State, 92 Nev. 95, 97, 545 P.2d 1155, 1156 (1976), the Court expressly rejected a Defendant's general entitlement to have the jury instructed with the "two reasonable interpretations" jury instruction: "We have heretofore considered such an instruction in cases involving both direct and circumstantial evidence and have ruled that it is not error to refuse to give the instruction if the jury is properly instructed regarding reasonable doubt." See also Mason v. State, 118 Nev. 554, 559, 51 P.3d 521, 524 (2002) (same); <u>Deveroux v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 388, 610 P.2d 722 (1980) (same); Hooper v. State, 95 Nev. 924, 927, 604 P.2d 115, 117 (1979) (same). Bails further held the "two reasonable interpretations" instruction is not required even in a case based on purely circumstantial evidence. Bails, 92 Nev. at 97, 545 P.2d at 1156.

Here, the district court instructed the jury in Jury Instruction No. 9 that McNeil was presumed innocent until proven guilty. McNeil does not appear to argue that such jury instructions were made in error, rather McNeil purports to contend that <a href="Bails">Bails</a> and <a href="Mason">Mason</a> should be overruled. McNeil has both failed to demonstrate that <a href="Bails">Bails</a> and <a href="Mason">Mason</a> should be overruled and that the district court abused their discretion.

#### E. Any Error is Harmless

Jury instruction errors are subject to harmless error review. Wegner v. State, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155-56, 14 P.3d 25, 30 (2000), overruled on other grounds by Rosas v. State, 122 Nev. at 1258, 147 P.3d at 1101 (2006). An instructional error is harmless when it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." Id. (quoting Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1 (1999).

Here, as discussed above, the State clearly proved beyond a reasonable doubt that McNeil violated his lifetime supervision agreement. Therefore, if this court should find error with the jury instructions, McNeil's conviction should be upheld since the error was harmless.

## IV. THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN DENYING MCNEILL'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL

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